STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County

Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

MAR 25 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ALTON JAMAUL CROSBY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-000282

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WANDA H. CARTER  
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The trial judge erred in denying appellant's motion for a mistrial because the Fifth Amendment was violated when appellant was coerced into involuntarily waiving his right to remain silent and testifying at trial in order to obtain a self-defense jury instruction, which the trial judge ultimately failed to grant despite appellant's testimony, particularly since the state's evidence supported the self-defense claim in the case.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Alton Jamaul Crosby was tried by jury on the charge of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature during the February 2017 term of the Spartanburg County General Sessions Court before Judge R. Keith Kelly. The jury found appellant guilty of second degree assault and battery. Judge Kelly sentenced appellant to imprisonment for a period of three years. Charles William Snyder represented appellant at trial and Assistant Solicitor Spencer Holloran Smith appeared on behalf of the state.

Appellant appealed his conviction and sentence. This brief follows.

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in denying appellant's motion for a mistrial because the Fifth Amendment was violated when appellant was coerced into involuntarily waiving his right to remain silent and testifying at trial in order to obtain a self-defense jury instruction, which the trial judge ultimately failed to grant despite appellant's testimony, particularly since the state's evidence presented supported the self-defense claim in the case.

The state indicted appellant on the offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature alleging that he committed assault and battery upon Dennis Talford on December 31, 2015. Only three witnesses testified at trial: appellant and state's witnesses Calvin Vinson and Officer Shanetta Thompson.

Calvin Vinson, who was the Director of the Miracle Hill Rescue Mission testified that he found Talford bleeding and lying at the bottom of a staircase of the building on December 31, 2015. Vinson stated that he was told that an incident occurred between petitioner and Talford, and that the event was captured on a (DVD) surveillance camera. R. 5, l. 11 – R. 8, l. 25.

Police officer Shanetta Thompson testified that she found Talford injured upon her arrival at the scene on the date in question, and that she arrested appellant at the scene after watching the DVD taped recording of the event. R. 10, l. 1 – R. 15, l. 18. However, on cross examination, Officer Thompson admitted that the videotape showed that Talford initiated the contact with appellant during the physical altercation and that Talford punched appellant. R. 16, lines 1-10.

Indeed, the evidence presented at trial revealed that there was a physical altercation between appellant and Talford at the top of a staircase inside that building and that Talford was the aggressor who hit appellant first and that appellant then struck Talford about the head in self-defense. R. 3, l. 14 – R. 4, l. 8.

After the state rested, appellant stated that "[he] decided not to testify." R. 23, l. 19. The defense rested and then counsel in effect raised the issue of self-defense in the case. The trial judge responded by stating that self-defense had not been raised and that no self-defense instruction would be charged unless appellant testified in the case. R. 24, l. 5 – R. 26, l. 11. Counsel asked "you will not instruct [self-defense] if [appellant] does not testify," and the trial judge answered "yeah." R. 26, lines 2-4. As a result, appellant, who previously informed the trial judge that he did not wish to testify, (R. 23, lines 19-21), was forced to reverse his initial decision not to testify and actually testify in his defense of self-defense at trial, presumably because this was the only way to secure a self-defense jury instruction in the case. R. 26, lines 1-25.

Thus, appellant testified involuntarily at trial. Appellant testified that he was living at Miracle Hill Rescue Mission and that Talford lived there also, and that when he passed Talford in the stairwell in question, he (Talford) hit him, and that he felt trapped and fearful so he responded in effect in self-defense when he struck Talford. Also, there was a prior altercation between the two men that occurred before this event. R. 28, l. 1 – R. 31, l. 19. After appellant testified, the defense rested. R. 32, l. 1-3. Then, defense counsel moved for a mistrial as follows:

[Appellant] would not have testified but for the fact that he thought he had to [testify] to get a charge of self-defense...as the Court instructed some evidence from the defense would have to be presented to get the charge of self-defense. R. 34, l. 15-19.

The evidence in the case that was presented was there was a video...[which showed] that Mr. Talford punched Mr. Crosby first...I believe that raised the question that any actions on his part was in self-defense..R. 35, lines 8-13.

Again, [appellant] did not want to testify at trial and felt like he needed to get the charge of self-defense, and as the case law proves

or demonstrates that one would be entitled to that charge regardless of whether or not we present any evidence. R. 35, l. 17-21.

The trial judge subsequently ruled that appellant was not entitled to a self-defense jury charge. R. 36, l. 17 – R. 38, l. 7; R. 39, l. 2-6.

Appellant's self-defense claim was supported by the videotape and the testimony of the state's witness (police officer). Defense counsel's opening statement also reveals this when he asked the jury "to pay close attention to the video...[in order to] see that [appellant] was defending himself." R. 4, l. 11-25. The trial judge in effect coerced appellant to prove self-defense by forcing to him to testify at trial rather than allow reliance on the state's evidence presented at trial sans his testimony on the issue of self-defense. In effect, this forced appellant to prove self-defense by testifying when it was the state's burden to disprove self-defense. Here, Talford was the aggressor who began the fight and thereafter, appellant acted out of fear in self-defense.

In a case of self-defense, the law to be charged is determined from the facts presented in the case. State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. 340, 520 S.E. 2d 319 (1999). If there is any evidence in the record from which it can be reasonably inferred that an accused justifiably inflicted a wound in self-defense, then the accused is entitled to a charge on the law of self-defense. State v. Stone, 285 SC 386, 330 S.E. 2d 286 (1985). In order to establish self-defense, the defendant must have been without fault in bringing on the difficulty and was or believed he was in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, which a reasonably prudent person would have so believed, and that he had no other means of avoiding the danger. State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 317 S.E.2d 452 (1984). Moreover, when one claims self-defense, the state is required to disprove the elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 500 S.E.2d 489 (1998); State v. Williams, 400 S.C. 308, 733 S.E.2d 605 (2012).

Moreover, the Fifth Amendment provides that no person shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself. See also South Carolina State Constitution Article 1, §12. In Brown v. State, 340 S.C. 590, 533 S.E.2d 308 (2000), the Court held that “the decision to testify or not is as perilous one [because] if a defendant does not testify, he [will] forego the opportunity to tell the jury his version of events [and] on the other hand, if a defendant chooses to testify, he subjects himself to cross-examination, including possible impeachment with prior convictions [but nonetheless] a waiver of this Fifth Amendment right must be knowing and voluntary.

Appellant’s Fifth Amendment’s right to remain silent was violated in this case. Appellant invoked his right to remain silent, but subsequently withdrew and waived this right and testified per the belief that his self-defense claim would not be entertained sans his testimony.

An accused has a right to remain silent, and not testify, and put the state to its burden of proof. State v. Johnson, 293 S.C. 321, 360 S.E.2d 317 (1987) citing to State v. Sloan, 278 S.C. 435, 298 S.E.2d 92 (1982); State v. Atkins, 353 S.C. 312, 577 S.E.2d 450 (2003). See Doyle v. Ohio, 426 U.S. 610 (1978), where the Court held that an accused has the right to remain silent and the exercise of that right cannot be used against him.

Then, after the trial judge improperly coerced appellant into waiving his right to remain silent and into testifying at trial in violation of the Fifth Amendment, and article 1, §12 of the South Carolina State Constitution, the trial judge failed to give a self-defense jury charge, which was supported by the evidence.

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing argument presented above, counsel for appellant requests that this Court reverse appellant's conviction and sentence, and remand the case to the circuit court for a new trial.

*Wanda H. Carter*

Wanda H. Carter  
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT