ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED  
MAR 19 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2017-000282

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT,

v.

ALTON JAMAUL CROSBY, .....APPELLANT.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3922

BARRY. J. BARNETTE  
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia St.  
Spartanburg, SC 29306  
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a mistrial because Appellant voluntarily testified in an attempt to present evidence meriting a self-defense charge. The trial judge did not instruct the jury on self-defense because neither the State or Appellant presented evidence satisfying the four requirements for such a charge.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 6, 2016, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN). On February 8, 2017, Appellant proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly. Charles William Snyder, III, Esquire, represented Appellant; Assistant Solicitor Spenser Holloran Smith, Esquire, represented the State. The jury found Appellant guilty of second-degree assault and battery. The trial judge sentenced Appellant to three years' incarceration and a fine of \$2,500.

Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal and subsequently submitted a Brief in support of his appeal. This Brief of Respondent follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 31, 2015, Calvin Vinson, the director of the Miracle Hill Rescue Mission was at work when one of the guests informed him an incident occurred between Appellant and the victim, Dennis Talford, in the stairwell of the mission. Vinson found Talford “profusely” bleeding at the bottom of the stairs, with blood splattered “up and down the stairwell.” Vinson subsequently found Appellant in line for a meal, where the latter denied any incident occurred. (R.p.5, line 7–R.p.7, line 2).

Officer Shanetta Thompson of the Spartanburg City Police Department arrived at the mission as E.M.S. was about to take Talford to the hospital. She approached Appellant while he was still in line and spoke privately with him in an adjoining room. Initially, Appellant denied having any knowledge of the assault against Talford. Officer Thompson and Vinson decided to watch the security footage of the stairwell to determine what occurred. The security footage showed: (1) Appellant and Talbert recognizing each other as they stand in their respective positions at the top and bottom of a set of stairs; (2) as the men pass each other at the halfway point, Talbert touches Appellant’s shoulder; (3) Appellant shrugs off the contact, reaches the bottom of the stairs and the exit to the stairwell, and then assaults Talbert on the stairs; (4) Appellant punches Talbert several times in various parts of the body, then puts him in a sleeper hold until he loses consciousness and allows him to fall to the bottom of the stairs. After watching the video, Officer Thompson arrested Appellant. (R.p.7, line 3–R.p.8, line 25; R.p.10, line 10–R.p.16, line 11; State’s Exhibit 1).

At the conclusion of the State’s case, Appellant decided against testifying. However, when the parties began discussing the appropriate jury charges, the trial judge stated he would not provide a self-defense charge because the defense failed to present evidence supporting the

elements of said charge. Trial counsel indicated this information “might require . . . rethinking [Appellant]’s decision not to take the witness stand,” which the trial judge indicated he would allow. After a brief conference, trial counsel indicated Appellant decided he would testify. (R.p.20, line 18–R.p.27, line 6).

Appellant testified that prior to the incident, he and Talford had a prior, non-violent altercation. When asked what happened in the stairwell and whether Talford punched him first, Appellant stated he’d “rather not say” and failed to provide substantive responses. When trial counsel asked him whether he was scared, he claimed “it was a form of fear.” Finally, when trial counsel asked him whether he felt trapped in the stairwell at the time of the assault, Appellant asked trial counsel to explain his question. Trial counsel attempted to ask a leading question, and when the trial judge ordered him to rephrase the question trial counsel ended his direct examination. On cross-examination, Appellant admitted the prior altercation between him and Talbert was not serious and that he failed to tell Officer Thompson about the assault. (R.p.27, line 14–R.p.31, line 24).

Before jury instructions, trial counsel renewed his demand for a charge on self-defense. Again, the trial judge denied the request. Trial counsel then moved for a mistrial, claiming Appellant would not have testified but for the fact he believed he was required to do so to earn a self-defense charge. He argued the security video footage and Officer Thompson testimony both indicated Appellant acted in self-defense and the trial judge violated Appellant’s Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination by requiring his testimony. (R.p.33, line 15–R.p.35, line 25).

In response, the trial judge noted Appellant voluntarily waived his right not to testify and that trial counsel could have sought other evidence to establish the elements of self-defense, such

as other witnesses who appeared in the video, but failed to do so. The trial judge explained that while the State has the burden of disproving self-defense, evidence supporting each of the elements of the charge must be in the record before the State is required to actually do so. Moreover, the trial judge found the security footage clearly disputed a finding of self-defense because it showed: (1) Appellant descended the stairs to attack Talbert; (2) Appellant choked and slapped him while he climbed the stairs; and (3) Appellant applied a chokehold at the top of the stairs and allowed Talbert to fall. The trial judge admitted it was the State's burden to disprove the elements of self-defense, but that Appellant failed to make an initial showing of the elements required for the charge. Accordingly, the trial judge denied the motion. (R.p.36, line 1–R.p.39, line 6).

## ARGUMENT

**The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a mistrial because Appellant voluntarily testified in an attempt to present evidence meriting a self-defense charge. The trial judge did not instruct the jury on self-defense because neither the State or Appellant presented evidence satisfying the four requirements for such a charge.**

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in denying trial counsel's motion for a mistrial because the trial judge coerced Appellant into "involuntarily waiving his right to remain silent and testifying at trial in order to obtain a self-defense jury instruction" and still failed to give the instruction to the jury. The State disagrees with this allegation of error. Appellant voluntarily testified in an attempt to provide enough evidence to merit a self-defense charge. However, due to his failure to give appropriate testimony, and the lack of such evidence in the State's case, the trial judge properly refused to issue the charge and denied trial counsel's motion for a mistrial.

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). In reviewing a trial judge's jury instructions, the appellate court must view the jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues from trial. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S.E.2d 19, 36 (Ct. App. 2009). An appellate court will not reverse a trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Santiago, 370 S.C. 153, 159, 634 S.E.2d 23, 26 (Ct. App. 2006).

The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Inman, 395 S.C. 539, 565, 720 S.E.2d 31, 45 (2011); State v. Meggett, 398 S.C. 516, 524, 728 S.E.2d 492, 496 (Ct. App. 2012). The granting of a motion for a mistrial is an extreme measure that should be taken only when the incident is so grievous the prejudicial effect can be

removed in no other way. Inman, 395 S.C. at 565, 720 S.E.2d at 45. A mistrial should be granted only when absolutely necessary and a defendant must show both error and resulting prejudice to be entitled to a mistrial. Meggett, 398 S.C. at 524. 728 S.E.2d at 496.

The law to be charged is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Holland, 385 S.C. 159, 165, 682 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 2009). The trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. State v. Buckner, 341 S.C. 241, 246, 534 S.E.2d 15, 18 (Ct. App. 2000). “No instruction should be given by the trial judge, at the request of the appellant, which tenders an issue which is not presented or supported by the evidence.” State v. Weaver, 265 S.C. 130, 137, 217 S.E.2d 31, 34 (1975).

“Ordinarily, the trial court has the duty to give requested instructions which correctly state the law applicable to the issues and which are supported by the evidence.” State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 553, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996). To warrant reversal, the trial judge’s refusal to give a requested charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial. State v. Hughey, 339 S.C. 439, 450, 529 S.E.2d 721, 727 (2000), *overruled on other grounds by* Rosemond v. Catoe, 383 S.C. 320, 680 S.E.2d 5 (2009).

To establish self-defense in South Carolina, four elements must be present: (1) the defendant was without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) a reasonable, prudent person of ordinary fitness and courage would have entertained the same belief; and (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury other than to act as he did. State v. Santiago, 370 S.C. 153, 634 S.E.2d 23 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing Jackson v. State, 355 S.C. 568, 57-71, 586 S.E.2d 562, 562 (2003); State v. Day, 341 S.C. 410, 416, 535 S.E.2d 431, 434 (2000)). If any one of the four elements required

by law is not present, a defendant is not entitled to a self-defense instruction. State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 554, 698 S.E.2d 572, 586 (2010).

In the instant case, the trial judge did not err in denying trial counsel's motion for a mistrial because the trial judge did not force Appellant to testify and did not wrongfully refuse to issue the self-defense charge. As noted by the trial judge, it is improper to charge self-defense if there is not evidence establishing all four requirements of the charge. See id., 388 S.C. at 553–54, 698 S.E.2d at 585–86. Notably, the witnesses' testimonies and the security video failed to provide any evidence Appellant was in, or at least believed he was in, imminent danger of sustaining serious bodily injury or had no other means of avoiding the danger. In fact the video evidence indicated the opposite: Talbert only touched Appellant's shoulder and Appellant reached the bottom of the stairwell, which was also an exit, before turning around and attacking Talbert on the stairs. Because the State's evidence did not support all four elements of self-defense, the trial judge correctly asserted he was not required to charge it without evidence supporting the missing elements. See id.

The trial judge never forced Appellant to testify. Appellant decided to testify to provide evidence supporting a self-defense charge as a strategic decision. Unfortunately, Appellant failed to present the necessary testimony to earn the charge. When given the opportunity to explain what occurred in the stairway, Appellant elected to not provide his perspective of the event. When asked his motivation, he only stated he thought he felt "a form of fear" and failed to mention any concern of death or substantial bodily harm. Finally, Appellant failed to explain why he might have felt he had no other means of avoiding the danger of the situation. Ultimately, it was Appellant's failure to provide testimony supporting self-defense which

prevented the trial judge from giving the appropriate charge. See Weaver, 265 S.C. at 137, 217 S.E.2d at 34 (stating a trial judge will not issue a jury charge not supported by the evidence).

Appellant willingly testified in an attempt to earn a self-defense charge. As noted by the trial judge, the State's case did not present evidence supporting every element of self-defense. Appellant's failure to present evidence supporting the charge falls squarely on his own shoulders. Because the trial judge did not err in finding a self-defense charge was inappropriate, even after Appellant's testimony, his actions could not have been the basis of a mistrial. See Hughey, 339 S.C. at 450, 529 S.E.2d at 727.

Accordingly, the trial judge did not err in denying Appellant's motion for a mistrial.

**CONCLUSION**


For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.